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I. INTRODUCTION

The Eleventh Circuit handed down only five substantive antitrust deci-
sions in 1989.1 This was the lowest antitrust output in at least the past
ten years.2 However, even more noteworthy is that three of these five
opinions favored plaintiffs.8 Consistent with the general state of the fed-
eral antitrust law under the Reagan Administration and the strong influ-
ence of the "Chicago school of economics" on its antitrust enforcers and
judicial appointees, antitrust plaintiffs previously fared poorly in the
Eleventh Circuit during the 1980s.'

* Partner in the firm of King & Spalding, Atlanta, Georgia. University of Florida (A.B.,

1971); Harvard University (J.D., 1974). Member, State Bar of Georgia. The opinions ex-
pressed in this Article are the personal views of the author.

1. DeLong Equip. Co. v. Washington Mills Abrasive Co., 887 F.2d 1499 (11th Cir. 1989),
cert. denied, 58 U.S.L.W. 3657 (U.S. Apr. 16, 1990) (No. 89-1362); Consolidated Gas Co. of
Fla. v. City Gas Co., 880 F.2d 297 (11th Cir. 1989); Pierce v. Commercial Warehouse, 876
F.2d 86 (11th Cir. 1989) (per curiam), cert. denied, 58 U.S.L.W. 3449 (US. Jan. 16, 1990)
(No. 89-797); Shahawy v. Harrison, 875 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1989); Palmer v. BRG of Ga.,
Inc., 874 F.2d 1417 (11th Cir. 1989), modified per curiam, 893 F.2d 293 (11th Cir. 1989)
(Solicitor General invited to file brief on behalf of the United States), 58 U.S.L.W. 3800
(U.S. June 19, 1990) (No. 89-1667). See also Royal Crown Cola Co. v. Coca-Cola Co., 887
F.2d 1480 (11th Cir. 1989) (Action of the Federal Trade Commission, not this private suit,
caused two major soft drink companies to drop their respective proposed acquisitions of Dr.
Pepper and Seven-Up so that Royal Crown was not a "prevailing party" within the meaning
of the Clayton Act and, therefore, not entitled to any award of attorneys' fees.), cert. denied,
58 U.S.L.W. 3815 (U.S. June 26, 1990) (No. 89-1759); Bolt v. Halifax Hosp. Medical Center,
851 F.2d 1273 (11th Cir. 1988), reh'g granted, 861 F.2d 1233 (11th Cir. 1988), modified &
remanded, 874 F.2d 755 (11th Cir. 1989), affd in part, rev'd in part & remanded, 891 F.2d
810 (11th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 58 U.S.L.W. 3694 (U.S. Apr. 30, 1990) (No. 89-1419).

2. Cf. Ross, Antitrust, 40 MERCER L. Rav. 1141 (1989); Ross, Antitrust, 38 MERCER L.
REv. 1053 (1987); Ross, Antitrust, 36 MERCER L. REv, 1101 (1985); Ross, Antitrust, 34 MER-

CER L. REV. 1191 (1983).
3. See DeLong Equip. Co., 887 F.2d at 1499 (reversing and remanding summary judg-

ment for defendants); Consolidated Gas Co., 880 F.2d at 297 (affirming bench judgment for
plaintiff); Shahawy, 875 F.2d at 1529 (reversing summary judgment for defendants).

4. See generally supra note 2.
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This Article discusses each of last term's antitrust decisions. As will be
shown, the Eleventh Circuit's analysis and adherence to Supreme Court
precedent in these cases was at best uneven.

II. SURVEY

In Pierce v. Commercial Warehouse,' the Eleventh Circuit affirmed
summary judgment against six jobber-wholesalers of automotive parts
who complained that seven national manufacturers had violated the
Robinson-Patman Act by selling parts to plaintiffs at higher prices than
were charged to their competitors.7 Because plaintiffs did not purchase
directly from the manufacturers, but instead bought parts from regional
warehouse distributors ("WDs") of the manufacturers, plaintiffs could
only pursue their price discrimination claims by first establishing that the
manufacturers controlled the resale prices of the WDs to the extent that
plaintiffs were indirectly purchasing from the manufacturers."

The Eleventh Circuit agreed with the trial court that "[a]lthough the
manufacturers issue sheets suggesting resale prices to the WDs, the rec-
ord does not support appellants' allegation that the WDs are compelled
to adhere to the sheets or uniformly follow them."' The court of appeals
thus rejected plaintiffs' contention that "the resales of manufacturers'
parts from the WDs to the jobbers were sham sales that in truth and fact
were controlled by the manufacturers,"10 and, it found that the "indirect
purchaser doctrine" was inapplicable."

Similarly straightforward was the Eleventh Circuit's opinion in Consol-
idated Gas Co. of Florida v. City Gas Co.,' 2 which upheld the district
court's determination that City Gas had unlawfully monopolized the
wholesale and retail markets for the sale of natural gas in its service area
in South Florida by, inter alia, (1) entering into an agreement with Peo-
ples Gas, City Gas' only real competitor in South Florida, not to compete
in each other's territory, and (2) refusing to sell natural gas to Consoli-
dated Gas except at an unreasonably high price.'" The trial court con-

5. 876 F.2d 86 (11th Cir. 1989) (per curiam).
6. Robinson-Patman Anti-Discrimination Act, ch. 592, 49 Stat. 1526 (1936) (codified as

amended at 15 U.S.C. §§ 13-21a (1988)).
7. 876 F.2d at 86-87.
8. Id. at 87-88.
9. Id. at 88.

10. Id.
11. Id.
12. 880 F.2d 297 (11th Cir. 1989).
13. Id. at 299. The Eleventh Circuit also held that the trial court had properly rejected

City Gas' counterclaim that accused Consolidated Gas of illegally forcing homeowners in the
subdivision where it operated, which had been developed by a sibling corporation, to buy

1218 [Vol. 41



ANTITRUST

cluded that City Gas had thereby prevented Consolidated Gas from con-
verting from retail sales of liquified petroleum ("LP") gas to natural
gas.

14

On appeal City Gas first contended that it did not have "monopoly
power to 'control prices or exclude competition' "15 because the Florida
Public Service Commission (the "PSC") regulates all intrastate rates and
supplies of natural gas.1s The Eleventh Circuit brushed aside this argu-
ment on the grounds that (1) the state regulatory scheme allowed City
Gas considerable authority to set its own prices;17 (2) City Gas was not
responsible for the high entry and exit barriers in the industry and did
not minimize their existence;16 and (3) City Gas had the power to sell
natural gas for resale even though it had never done so.19

City Gas was no more successful in trying to convince the Eleventh
Circuit that its territorial agreement with Peoples Gas was shielded from
federal antitrust exposure by the "state action" doctrine. Private conduct
will qualify for antitrust immunity under this doctrine if it was (1) au-
thorized by a "clearly articulated and affirmatively expressed" state pol-
icy to displace competition with regulation, and (2) "actively supervised"
by the state itself.10 City Gas' territorial agreement with Peoples Gas was
deemed not to meet either of these essential conditions.

The problem with satisfying the first prong of the test was that Florida
statutes expressly granted the PSC authority to approve territorial agree-
ments between telephone companies, electric utilities, and water and
sewer utilities, but the chapter governing natural gas utilities conspicu-

LP gas from Consolidated Gas as a condition of purchasing their homes. Id. at 304. The
court of appeals agreed with the district court that Consolidated Gas did not have sufficient
economic power in the real estate market to implement this alleged "tie-in," and that in any
event, it failed to keep City Gas from selling natural gas in the subdivision. Id. at 304-05.

14. Id. at 299.
15. Id. at 300. See, e.g., United States v. E.I. duPont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377,

391 (1956); United States v. Paramount Pictures, Inc., 334 U.S. 131, 174 (1948). But see
Shoppin' Bag of Pueblo, Inc. v. Dillon Cos., 783 F.2d 159, 164 (10th Cir. 1986) (defining
monopoly power as "the ability to control prices and exclude competition").

16. 880 F.2d at 300.
17. Id. at 301.
18. Id. Accord Southern Pac. Communications Co. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 740 F.2d

980, 1001 (D.C. Cir. 1984) ("[Diefendant's innocence or blameworthiness ... has absolutely
nothing to do with whether a condition constitutes a barrier to entry."), cert. denied, 470
U.S. 1005 (1985).

19. 880 F.2d at 300-01. "City Gas had, in fact, entered into a contract with a third party
to sell its gas for resale, but no gas was ever actually sold under this agreement." Id. at 300.

20. See, e.g., Southern Motor Carriers Rate Conference, Inc. v. United States, 471 U.S.
48, 57 (1985); California Retail Liquor Dealers Ass'n v. Midcal Aluminum, Inc., 445 U.S. 97,
105 (1980).
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ously omitted any comparable provision.21 "This seem[ed] to [the Elev-
enth Circuit] to be compelling evidence that the Legislature in fact did
not intend for natural gas utilities to also enjoy exclusive territorial
agreements.

'
1
22

On the other hand, in 1965 the Florida Supreme Court had refused to
permit City Gas to get out of its territorial agreement with Peoples Gas
despite City Gas' claim that it violated both the Sherman Act2 8 and state
antitrust laws. 2

1 Indeed, the Florida Supreme Court implicitly ruled that
the PSC had authority to approve the agreement by finding that it would
not be valid without this approval.2 5

Nevertheless, the Eleventh Circuit noted that the availability of the
state action exemption "is ultimately a question of federal antitrust
law."" Moreover, the PSC itself had subsequently expressed doubt on
whether it could establish exclusive territories or resolve territorial dis-
putes between natural gas utilities.27 This uncertainty, combined with the
above-described difference in the Florida statutes regulating natural gas
companies and other utilities, and City Gas' earlier position before the
Florida Supreme Court that the territorial agreement with Peoples Gas
was unenforceable under the Sherman Act, persuaded the Eleventh Cir-
cuit that "the district court did not err in concluding that no clearly ar-
ticulated state policy authorized this agreement. 28

The PSC's reservations about its power to condone, much less to im-
pose, exclusive territories between natural gas utilities also proved fatal to
City Gas' attempt to show that the PSC had "actively supervised" the
challenged territorial agreement, especially since it appeared to be the
only such agreement between natural gas companies in Florida.2' Nor was
the Eleventh Circuit willing to accept the Florida Supreme Court's con-
sideration of this territorial agreement more than twenty years ago as ful-
filling the "active supervision" prong of the state action doctrine.2 0 Even
assuming that state court review of private activities could ever constitute
this "active supervision," which the Supreme Court expressly declined to
decide in Patrick v. Burget, 1 the Eleventh Circuit held that the Florida

21. 880 F.2d at 302.
22. Id.
23. Ch. 647, 26 Stat. 209 (1890) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-7 (1988)).
24. City Gas Co. v. Peoples Gas Sys., 182 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1965).
25. See 880 F.2d at 302.
26. Id. at 303 (citing Town of Hallie v. City of Eau Claire, 471 U.S. 34, 44 (1985) (em-

phasis in original)).
27. Id.
28. Id. (emphasis in original).
29. Id.
30. Id.
31. 486 U.S. 94, 103-04 (1988).
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Supreme Court's minimal contact with the territorial agreement in issue
was "nothing more than a 'gauzy cloak of state involvement' which does
not protect it from the constraints of federal antitrust regulation. '

In Shahawy v. Harrison,3 the Eleventh Circuit relied even more heav-
ily on Patrick in rejecting a state action defense." Dr. Shahawy alleged
that the Sarasota County Public Hospital Board, the hospital's medical
review committee, and other staff physicians had violation section 1 of
the Sherman Act2 ' by denying his request for cardiac catheterization lab-
oratory privileges.3 The trial court granted the board's motion for sum-
mary judgment on this antitrust claim after determining that Florida's
medical peer review system met the two-pronged test for state action im-
munity of private conduct.3 The Eleventh Circuit reversed this ruling
because it found that the "active supervision" element was missing."

First, the court of appeals pointed out that the Florida peer review
statutes came up short under Patrick by not providing for any state offi-
cial to review "specific peer review board decisions regarding clinical priv-
ileges to determine whether such decisions comport with state policy."'"
Second, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that state judicial review could
not substitute for this lack of agency supervision since "Florida courts
merely review the [hospital] board's decision for procedural error and in-
sufficient evidence,' ' 0 and even then with deference to the board,' which
mirrored the limited judicial review that in Patrick was not enough to
''convert the action of a private party . . . into the action of the State for
purposes of the state-action doctrine.' '

• In DeLong Equipment Co. v. Washington Mills Abrasive Co.,"3 the
Eleventh Circuit also breathed new life into an antitrust treble damage
action. DeLong was a former distributor of abrasive metal finishing
materials known as "media" that were manufactured by Washington
Mills.4 ' DeLong alleged that Washington Mills conspired with B.C.S.

32. 880 F.2d at 303 (quoting California Retail Liquor Dealers Ass'n v. Midcal Aluminum,
445 U.S. 97, 106 (1980)).

33. 875 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1989).
34. Id. at 1535.
35. Ch. 647, § 1, 26 Stat. 209 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1988)).
36. 875 F.2d at 1531.
37. Id.
38. Id. at 1535-36.
39. Id. at 1535.
40. Id.
41. Id. at 1536.
42. 486 U.S. at 105.
43. 887 F.2d 1499 (11th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 58 U.S.L.W. 3657 (U.S. Apr. 16, 1990)

(No. 89-1362).
44. 887 F.2d at 1502.
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Company ("BCS"), another of its distributors, to raise the resale price of
media to Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Division of United Technologies Cor-
poration ("P&W") by falsely labeling standard media that was sold to
P&W as "special" media, which could command a higher price, and fur-
ther alleged that DeLong was terminated by Washington Mills when it
refused to participate in this pricing scheme." The trial court entered
summary judgment against DeLong on its federal antitrust claims,4

6 but
the Eleventh Circuit disagreed.' 7

The court of appeals initially upheld the district court in finding that
DeLong's termination "pose[d] a vertical restraint problem.'4 The trial
court had concluded that DeLong was complaining of nonprice vertical
restrictions that had to be evaluated under the "rule of reason," 4 which
demands proof of an actual adverse effect on competition in a relevant
market that DeLong conceded it could not satisfy.50 The Eleventh Cir-
cuit, however, decided that DeLong had presented enough evidence of a
per se illegal vertical price fixing conspiracy to survive defendants' motion
for summary judgment. 1

It is hard to quarrel with the Eleventh Circuit's assessment of DeLong's
proof of a conspiracy between Washington Mills and BCS to pass off
standard media to P&W as "special" media to facilitate an inflated sales
price. There likewise seemed to be ample evidence in the record to raise a
jury question whether DeLong was terminated in furtherance of this al-
leged conspiracy. By contrast, the Eleventh Circuit appears to have mis-
read the Supreme Court's recent opinion in Business Electronics Corp. v.
Sharp Electronics Corp.2 in finding that DeLong had made out a prima
facie claim of per se unlawful resale price maintenance.

'45. Id. at 1503-04.
46. Id. at 1504-05.
47. Id. at 1515.
48. Id. at 1505-06.
49. Id. at 1507.
50. Id. DeLong argued that the Supreme Court's decision in NCAA v. Board of Regents,

468 U.S. 85 (1984), relieved a rule of reason antitrust plaintiff from the burden of showing
market power and diminution of competition if, as DeLong alleged it had done, the plaintiff
demonstrated a "naked restriction on price." 887 F.2d at 1507 n.10. See NCAA, 468 U.S. at
109 (stating that "[a]s a matter of law, the absence of proof of market power does not justify
a naked restriction on price or output"). See also FTC v. Indiana Fed'n of Dentists, 476
U.S. 447, 459 (1986) (lack of specific findings regarding market definition and market power
did not preclude the conclusion that a group of dentists unreasonably restrained trade by
collectively refusing to furnish x-rays to their patients' insurers where there was proof that
this practice actually impeded the "'ordinary give and take of the market place.' "). The
Eleventh Circuit rejected this "tortured reading of NCAA." 887 F.2d at 1507 n.10.

51. 887 F.2d at 1507.
52. 485 U.S. 717 (1988).
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Business Electronics builds on the Supreme Court's 1984 decision in
Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Service Corp.'8 In Monsanto the Court con-
cluded that a manufacturer's termination of a price cutting distributor
was not itself sufficient evidence of an alleged conspiracy between the
manufacturer and the complaining distributor to allow the terminated
distributor to avoid summary judgment on such a section 1 claim.", Be-
cause this sequence of events, standing alone, is equally consistent with
lawful unilateral behavior by the manufacturer and a per se illegal resale
price fixing conspiracy,"5 the Court reasoned that "something more than
evidence of complaints is needed [to getpast summary judgment]. There
must be evidence that tends to exclude the possibility that the manufac-
turer and nonterminated distributors were acting independently."'6

In Business Electronics the Court held. that even if, as in DeLong, a
terminated distributor is determined to have adduced adequate evidence
of conspiracy to meet the "something more" test of Monsanto, the termi-
nated distributor cannot bring this conspiracy within the per se rule
against vertical price fixing without establishing "a further agreement on
the price or price levels to be charged by the remaining dealer."'" In other
words, Business Electronics mandates that "a vertical restraint is not ille-
gal per se unless it includes some agreement on price or price levels.""

The Eleventh Circuit expressly acknowledged this standard. 9 Yet no-
where in its lengthy and detailed review of the record in DeLong did the
court of appeals identify any agreement between Washington Mills and
BCS regarding the specific prices to be charged to P&W for "special"
media. To the contrary, the Eleventh Circuit merely reported that
"[g]enerally, Washington Mills distributors purchased media for resale at
a wholesale discount of 25% off the list price for media."60 Moreover, De-
Long apparently successfully underbid BCS to supply "special" media to
P&W, and DeLong was able to keep this account for nearly three years
before it was terminated by Washington Mills.01 Indeed, the Eleventh
Circuit itself observed that "[t]he exact prices paid for 'special' media
during the course of DeLong's relationship with Washington Mills are a
subject of dispute between parties."'

53, 465 U.S. 752 (1984).
54, Id. at 765.
55. Id. at 762.
56. Id. at 764 (emphasis added).
57. 485 U.S. at 726.
58. Id. at 735-36 (emphasis in original).
59. 887 F.2d at 1506.
60. Id. at 1503.
61. Id. at 1504.
62. Id. at 1510 n.15.
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If anything, this evidence seems to refute any inference of a "further
agreement on the price or price levels to be charged by the remaining
dealer"' "s that must be shown to prove a per se illegal vertical price fixing
conspiracy under Business Electronics. It was apparently enough for the
Eleventh Circuit to find that "[a] conspiracy to artificially inflate or 'pad'
the price is a conspiracy to affect 'price or price levels,'", at least when
"Washington Mills did not argue otherwise."6'

The Eleventh Circuit also overturned the district court's grant of sum-
mary judgment against DeLong's claims" that Washington Mills violated
section 2(a) of the Robinson-Patman Act by selling "special" media to
DeLong at higher prices than Washington Mills charged other distribu-
tors for "stock" media, which two types of media DeLong contended were
of "like grade and quality."'s7 The trial court held that DeLong could have
purchased "stock" media,ss and that defendants were therefore entitled
to summary judgment on this price discrimination claim based on the ju-
dicially created "availability defense. '" As the Sixth Circuit explained in
Shreve Equipment, Inc. v. Clay Equipment Corp.,70 "[when] a purchaser
does not take advantage of a lower price or discount which is functionally
available on an equal basis, it has been held that either no price discrimi-
nation has occurred, or the discrimination is not the proximate cause of
the injury." 1

On the "unique facts" of DeLong, the Eleventh Circuit rejected defend-
ants' invocation of the availability defense.7

2 In particular, the court of

63. 485 U.S. at 717.
64. 887 F.2d at 1507 n.11 (quoting Business Electronics, 485 U.S. at 736) (emphasis

added). In Business Electronics the Supreme Court expressly rejected the suggestion that
the pro rule of reason doctrine of GTE Sylvania could be accommodated with a vertical
price fixing standard that "invalidat[es] as illegal per se only those agreement imposing
vertical restraints that contain the word 'price' or that affect the 'prices' charged by deal-
ers" since "all vertical restraints . . . have the potential to allow dealers to increase 'prices'
and can be characterized as intended to achieve just that." 485 U.S. at 728 (emphasis
added).

65. 887 F.2d at 1508 n.11.
66. Id. at 1517.
67. Id. at 1515-16. Section 2(a) of the Robinson-Patman Act prohibits price discrimina-

tion in the sale of "commodities of like grade and quality." Ch. 592, § 2(a), 49 Stat. 1526
(codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1988)).

68. 887 F.2d at 1517.
69. Id. at 1516.
70. 650 F.2d 101 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 897 (1981).
71. 650 F.2d at 105 (citations omitted). Accord, e.g., Boise Cascade Corp. v. FTC, 837

F.2d 1127, 1130-31 (D.C. Cir. 1988); FLM Collision Parts, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 543 F.2d
1019, 1025-26 (2d Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1097 (1977). The Eleventh Circuit as-
sumed for purposes of the appeal in DeLong, but expressly did not decide, that this circuit
recognizes the availability defense. 887 F.2d at 1516 n.25.

72. 887 F.2d at 1517.
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appeals stressed that P&W would only buy "special" media marked with
its own code numbers and that Washington Mills had refused to sell
"stock" media to DeLong labeled with these numbers for resale to P&W.
Under these circumstances, the Eleventh Circuit determined that "the
stock price was not functionally available [to DeLong] within the mean-
ing of Shreve."'13

The final, and most noteworthy, of the Eleventh Circuit's 1989 anti-
trust decisions was Palmer v. BRG of Georgia, Inc.7 4 Put bluntly, this
opinion is difficult to reconcile with settled antitrust principles. Defend-
ants BRG of Georgia, Inc. ("BRG") and Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Legal
and Professional Publications, Inc. ("HBJ") each formerly offered com-
peting bar review courses in Georgia.. HBJ developed its own standard-
ized multistate materials and sold them with its Georgia course, under
the trade name "BAR/BRI." Conversely, BRG included in its Georgia
course the free standardized multistate materials that West Publishing
Company ("West") was test marketing. These free multistate materials
enabled BRG to offer its Georgia course at a lower price that BRG other-
wise would have charged.7

In 1979 HBJ reduced the price of its Georgia course in response to
BRG's competition, losing money as a result. Sometime that year West
informed BRG that its standardized multistate materials would no longer
be available for free. In addition, at around the same time the lawyer who
had been in charge of HBJ's Georgia course suffered a heart attack, and
HBJ allegedly decided to withdraw from the Georgia market. In early
1980 BRG and HBJ entered into a written agreement granting BRG the
exclusive license to use HBJ's multistate materials and valuable trade
name "BAR/BRI" in Georgia. Further, HBJ agreed that it would not con-
tinue to offer a bar review course in Georgia, and BRG agreed not to
compete with HBJ outside of Georgia.7

Immediately after this agreement was executed BRG raised the price of
its Georgia course from $150 to over $400." In 1982 a group of Georgia
law students brought a class action against BRG and HBJ, alleging virtu-
ally every conceivable Sherman Act claim. BRG and HBJ settled this
class action by offering partial refunds. 7 During the pendency of that liti-
gation, however, BRG and HBJ modified their 1980 agreement by delet-
ing BRG's exclusive right to use HBJ's multistate materials in Georgia
and HBJ's covenant not to compete with BRG in the state. Notwith-

73. Id.
74. 874 F.2d 1417 (11th Cir. 1989), reh'g denied, 893 F.2d 293 (11th Cir. 1990).
75. 874 F.2d at 1418.
76. Id.
77. Id. at 1419.
78. Id.

1225



MERCER LAW REVIEW

standing these 1982 amendments, at no subsequent time did HBJ either
license its multistate materials to any Georgia bar review course besides
BRG or compete with BRG in the state.

Palmer picked up where the prior class action ended. It too was filed as
a class action by former law students at the University of Georgia Law
School and sought to represent all law students who attended a BRG bar
review course in Athens, Georgia between June 15, 1984, the cutoff date
for the class in the earlier case, and the present. Plaintiffs again asserted
the whole panoply of possible Sherman Act offenses. The district court
denied class certification and granted summary judgment for defendants
on all ten counts of the complaint.7 ' The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the
trial court's ruling in all respects.80

Regrettably, the majority's antitrust analysiss is clouded by its format
of summarizing the respective arguments of the parties on each issue and
then simply deferring to the district court's findings. Even so, a number
of these conclusions are puzzling. First, the price of BRG's bar review
course in Georgia had "escalated to approximately $825" by 1985, an in-
crease of more than 500 percent since the 1980 agreement between BRG
and HBJ." HBJ directly profited from this higher cost by receiving from
BRG $100 for each student enrolled in its Georgia course and forty per-
cent of all revenues over $350 per student."s The Eleventh Circuit agreed
with the trial court that the BRG/HBJ arrangement could not be at-
tacked as per se illegal horizontal price fixing because neither the 1980
nor the 1982 agreements "explicitly addressed the factor of price. ' '" 4 This
limitation of horizontal price fixing to instances "where two competitors
agreed to what price they would charge for their products"" not only
stands in marked contrast to the Eleventh Circuit's treatment of vertical
price fixing in DeLong,86 but it appears to be dead wrong.' 7 As the Su-
preme Court stated in Business Electronics in countering the argument

79. Id. at 1419-20.
80. Id. at 1428.
81. Judge Clark dissented. Id. (Clark, J., dissenting). Palmer was consequently the Elev-

enth Circuit's first non-unanimous antitrust decision in many years. See supra note 2.
82. See 874 F.2d at 1430, 1437 (Clark, J., dissenting). But see id. at 1420, 1426 (plaintiffs

alleged that the price of BRG's Georgia bar review course had gone up 800%).
83. Id. at 1429, 1438 (Clark, J., dissenting).
84. Id. at 1424.
85. Id.
86. See supra text accompanying notes 43-73.
87. See, e.g., Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 648 (1980) (per curiarn)

(horizontal agreement to eliminate short-term credit "falls squarely within the traditional
per se rule against price fixing"); United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223
(1940) (agreement among competitors to engage in a program of buying surplus gasoline on
the spot market to stop prices from falling sharply was per se illegal price fixing even though
there was no agreement on the actual prices to be maintained).
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that it was improper to require that a vertical agreement set prices or
price levels to fall within the per se proscription when horizontal agree-
ments had been held to constitute price fixing without this proof:

This notion of equivalence between the scope of horizontal per se illegal-
ity and that of vertical per se illegality was explicitly rejected in GTE
Sylvania ... as it had to be, since a horizontal agreement to divide ter-
ritories is per se illegal .... while GTE Sylvania held that a vertical
agreement to do so is not.8

The Eleventh Circuit similarly seemed to stray from established anti-
trust precedent in adopting the district court's determination that no per
se illegal horizontal allocation of markets or customers was at hand be-
cause "the only market ever claimed by both defendants was the state of
Georgia, which was not divided up under either the 1980 or 1982 agree-
ments."'" In truth, the Sherman Act equally condemns agreements be-
tween existing competitors (1) to divide up a market in which both do
businesss or (2) to turn over an entire market to one competitor if it will
refrain from actual or potential competition with the other elsewhere.'

The majority modified this portion of its opinion in response to plain-
tiffs' petition for rehearing or suggestion for rehearing en banc, which was
supported by the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of
Justice, to add the language that "HBJ and BRG are not horizontal com-
petitors.''

1
s It rested this new finding on an affidavit from HBJ attesting

that "it is no longer a competitor in the Georgia market" and on the ab-
sence of any evidence to the contrary from plaintiffs. The majority ac-
cordingly reasoned that "we cannot conclude that HBJ is doing business
in Georgia."98

It is understandable if plaintiffs chose not to contest this matter since
the elimination of HBJ from "doing business in Georgia" was the linch-
pin of their case. The only way that the majority's amendment could logi-
cally bolster its decision on plaintiffs' territorial allocation claim would be
if the majority had held that "HBJ and BRG were not horizontal compet-
itors" at the time of the 1982 agreement, and that HBJ then was not
"doing business in Georgia." But these rulings would have to be predi-

88. 485 U.S. at 734 (citations omitted).
89. 874 F.2d at 1424.
90. See, e.g., United States v. Topco Assocs., 405 U.S. 596, 608 (1972); United States v.

Sealy, Inc., 388 U.S. 350, 353-54 (1967).
91. See, e.g., Timken Roller Bearing Co. v. United States, 341 U.S. 593, 597-98 (1951);

Engine Specialties, Inc. v. Bombardier Ltd., 605 F.2d 1, 10-11 (1st Cir. 1979), cert. denied,
446 U.S. 893 (1980).

92. 893 F.2d 293, 293 (11th Cir. 1990) (per curiam). The petition for rehearing and sug-
gestion for rehearing en banc were denied.

93. Id.
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cated on a determination that, as a matter of law, HBJ and BRG had
abandoned the express market allocation that was set forth in their 1980
agreement. The majority never made such a finding, and the record would
appear to foreclose it.'

The evidence in Palmer also seemed to be sufficient to permit plaintiffs
to get to the jury on their claims that the BRG/HBJ agreements violated
section 1 of the Sherman Act under the rule of reason95 and section 2 by
unreasonably restraining, monopolizing, or attempting or conspiring to
monopolize" the alleged market consisting of the sale of "comprehensive
bar review courses that prepare students to take the Georgia bar exami-
nation. . .[in] Athens, Georgia, during the winter academic term of law
school. ' '9

7 This proof included (1) the dramatic 500 percent plus increase
in the price of BRG's Georgia bar review course in the years following its
1980 agreement with HBJ; (2) the failure of HBJ to compete with BRG
in Georgia or to license its multi-state materials to any other bar review
course in the state even after the 1982 agreement; (3) BRG's continued
exclusive right to use HBJ's "BAR/BRI" trade name for bar review
courses in Georgia;" and (4) testimony by economic experts and law stu-
dents and survey data showing that (a) at least eighty percent of UGA
law students who took a bar review course in the period before the BRG/
HBJ agreements enrolled in one of their courses, (b) approximately
ninety percent of these students signed up for the BRG course in 1986-
1987, (c) BRG currently has over ninety-five percent of this business, and
(d) law student preferences and transportation costs separate Athens
from Atlanta and Macon, where BRG additionally offers its Georgia bar
review course." The Eleventh Circuit, however, went along with the trial
court and concluded that plaintiffs had presented "no significant proba-
tive evidence .. .that the modified contractual arrangement [between

94. See 874 F.2d at 1436 n.25 (Clark, J., dissenting), stating that "it is an unsettled
factual issue whether the conspiratorial objectives manifest in the 1980 agreement between
HBJ and BRG have continued despite the supposedly ameliorative modifications made in
1982." Defendant has the burden of establishing its withdrawal from an antitrust conspiracy
through evidence of "[aiffirmative acts inconsistent with the object of the conspiracy and
communicated in a manner reasonably calculated to reach co-conspirators." United States v.
United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 464 (1978). Accord, e.g., Chiropractic Coop. Ass'n
v. American Medical Ass'n, 867 F.2d 270, 274-75 (6th Cir. 1989). This proof is facially ne-
gated by defendant's continued receipt of the benefits and rewards of the conspiracy. See,
e.g., United States v. Dynalectric Co., 859 F.2d 1559, 1563-65 (11th Cir. 1988); United States
v. Aquafredda, 834 F.2d 915, 919 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 980 (1988).

95. 874 F.2d at 1424.
96. Id. at 1426.
97. Id. at 1425. Plaintiffs alternatively alleged both national and statewide relevant geo-

graphic markets. Id. at 1419.
98. Id. at 1437-38 (Clark, J., dissenting).
99. Id. at 1440-41.
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BRG and HBJ] had a present anti-competitive effect in a relevant prod-
uct and geographic market." 110

III. CONCLUSION

The Eleventh Circuit's antitrust workload last term was down, yet anti-
trust plaintiffs came out ahead in most of the decisions. Further, the
Eleventh Circuit's willingness to allow a terminated distributor in De-
Long to pursue a claim for per se illegal vertical price fixing without ap-
parent proof of "some agreement on price or price levels" as called for by
the Supreme Court in Business Electronics may give rise to an increase
in this jurisdiction of the dealer termination antitrust litigation that used
to be the staple of private antitrust practice. On the other hand, the deci-
sion in Palmer could itself be enough to discourage any potential plaintiff
or attorney from bringing an antitrust action in the Eleventh Circuit.

100. Id. at 1426.
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